

Available online at

ScienceDirect www.sciencedirect.com Elsevier Masson France

EM|consulte www.em-consulte.com/en

Review article

Ethics in transfusion medicine: Are the intricate layers of ethics all universal? A global view



Olivier Garraud ^{a,*}, Constantina Politis ^b, Reinhard Henschler ^c, Alexander P.J. Vlaar ^{d,e}, Antoine Haddad ^{f,g}, Nigar Ertuğrul Örüç ^h, Stefan Laspina ⁱ, Vincenzo De Angelis ^j, Clive Richardson ^k, Tomislav Vuk ^l, the European, Mediterranean Initiative in Transfusion medicine EMITm collaborative

^a Sainbiose-INSERM_U1059, FACULTY of Medicine, University of Saint-Etienne, Saint-Etienne, France

^b Hellenic National Public Health Organisation, Athens, Greece

^c Institute of Transfusion Medicine, University Hospital Leipzig, University of Leipzig, Johannisallee 32, D 04318 Leipzig, Germany

^d Department of Intensive Care, Amsterdam UMC, location Academic Medical Center, University of Amsterdam, Meibergdreef 9, PO Box 22660, 1105 AZ Amsterdam, the Netherlands ^e Laboratory of Experimental Intensive Care and Anesthesiology, Amsterdam UMC, location Academic Medical Center, University of Amsterdam, Meibergdreef 9, PO Box 22660, 1105 AZ Amsterdam, the Netherlands

^fSacré Cœur Hospital. Beirut. Lebanon

^gLebanese University and Lebanese American University, Beirut, Lebanon

^h Health Sciences University Dışkapı Yıldırım Beyazıt Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

ⁱMater Dei Hospital Blood Bank, Pathology Department, Mater Dei Hospital, Malta

^jCentro Nazionale Sangue-Istituto Superiore di Sanità, Rome, Italy

^k Panteion University of Social and Political Sciences, Athens, Greece

¹Croatian Institute of Transfusion Medicine, Zagreb, Croatia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Available online 23 March 2023

Keywords: Ethics Transfusion medicine Blood donors Blood donation Blood components Blood component recipient Plasma derivative medicinal products

ABSTRACT

Ethical principles have been considered, and in several respects regulated, along the entire blood procurement chain from donor motivation to transfusion to the patient. Consent of donors and voluntary nonremunerated donation are fields which have been addressed by codes of ethics and legislation. Caring for donor health is an area of further development of ethical standards. In part, blood products have also become a market, where commercial principles may synergize, but also creating issues in equality and maintaining human dignity that challenge societal solutions. At the bedside, the main global challenge remains to procure enough blood products for each patient in medical need. Allocation of rare blood, ethical evaluation of transfusion triggers, attitudes towards refusing blood transfusion and provision of blood products to remote settings are areas which should receive consideration.

© 2023 Société française de transfusion sanguine (SFTS). Published by Elsevier Masson SAS. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	348	
2.	2. Ethical aspects of blood donor recruitment and retention, and blood donation		
	2.1. What the history of blood transfusion tells us	. 348	
	2.2. Voluntary non-remunerated blood donation and beyond	. 348	
3. The globalization of blood transfusion			
	3.1. The marketing of blood donation	. 349	
	3.2. Merchandizing	. 349	
4.	Codifying the ethical aspects of transfusion	349	

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: olivier.garraud@univ-st-etienne.fr (O. Garraud).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tracli.2023.03.004

1246-7820/© 2023 Société française de transfusion sanguine (SFTS). Published by Elsevier Masson SAS. All rights reserved.

5.	Ethical aspects of blood donation and collection: Medicalizing the good intention			
6.	6. Are there ethical concerns relating to blood components?			
7.	Ethica	al aspects of blood transfusion at the bedside	351	
	7.1.	Infor***med consent	. 351	
	7.2.	Ethical and legal aspects at the bedside	. 351	
	7.3.	The refusal of blood transfusion	. 351	
	7.4.	What has "Patient Blood Management" changed in the field of blood transfusion ethics?	. 351	
	7.5.	Rare blood allocation	. 351	
	7.6.	Distributive justice and allocation of blood in remote settings	. 352	
8.	Transfusion in resource-scarce countries and concluding remarks			
	Disclose	ures	352	
	Refer	ences	352	

1. Introduction

Transfusion therapy continues to rely on products derived from the blood of human volunteers. Certain conditions, however, may compromise their availability [1]. The World Health Organization (WHO) has placed labile blood components (BCs) on its "Essential Medicines" list, alongside certain plasma-derived medicinal products (PDMPs) [2], meaning that transfusion should be universally available to anyone in need. This is yet not the case in certain parts of the world, where access to blood varies widely geographically. While quantitative needs are increasingly being satisfied, quality and adherence to recommended standards, such as leukoreduction and extended testing for transfusion-transmitted infections (TTIs) are still in progress in countries with developing economies [3,4]. Undoubtedly, a country's economic strength is crucial to securing contingency BC inventory. Additional budget may be necessary to strengthen blood transfusion safety [5]. While citizens of lowincome countries may seldom be in the position of giving consent to receive a life-saving transfusion because blood may be lacking, citizens from high-income countries may self-deny access to blood for personal reasons, even at the risk of not surviving this decision. This is not the least of the paradoxes associated with transfusion [6].

Blood donors' consent to give access to living cells and plasma is central. Reciprocally, BC recipients consent to exposure to foreign cells and proteins presenting variable elements. Every one of the multiple steps of the transfusion process is subject to ethical discussion. Since 1975, WHO has mandated that all transfusions originate from blood given voluntarily, anonymously, and freely without payment, reward, or compensation, other than occasional reimbursement of travel expenses [7]. European Union (EU) Directive 2002/98 EC confirmed this principle [8]. "Voluntary Non-Remunerated Blood Donation" (VNRD) is however not yet the predominant donation mode worldwide, an issue that questions almost half a century of effort. The reason for this delay in achieving the WHO's objectives is probably multifactorial. Furthermore, between VNRD and the for-profit collection of BCs, there is a "grey zone" as (i) certain blood banks (BB) in countries that operate with VNRD can make some profit by charging hospitals, and (ii) states often receive value added tax upon transfers on a commercial basis to health care facilities.

2. Ethical aspects of blood donor recruitment and retention, and blood donation

2.1. What the history of blood transfusion tells us

Transfusion therapy arose after more than a century of struggle to compensate for loss of blood, correct anemia and compensate for reduced oxygen delivery and cardiac output. The subsequent discovery of major blood groups and invention of anticoagulant and buffers created conditions where blood could be transported and then preserved for a few days, enabling distance between donors and recipients, and ending the arm-to-arm obligation [9]. After the discovery of blood group compatibility, transfusion tended to become unlimited in patients; only later were more conservative regimens applied, consequently reshaping global demand for blood with a very different message sent to patient populations [10].

Major technical progress was made regarding: (i) collection and preservation devices; (ii) tools to secure blood and halt transmission of infectious pathogens; and (iii) processes to separate specific components and fractions to best fit the patients' needs. However, although medical indications have changed significantly, the essence of blood transfusion is very close to what it was a hundred years ago: (i) the willingness of healthy, humanitarian, compassionate persons to offer blood that they know is essential to counter life-threatening conditions; (ii) the intervention of professionals who receive donated blood and allocate it to recipients, according to a risk/benefit evaluation, whenever blood is available [11].

Transfusion passed through one major crisis, when blood transmitted lethal infections (the tainted blood scandal). This shook confidence in blood safety, reduced the number of donations and changed the profile of transfusion medicine. A timeline of transfusion landmarks can be obtained from several references, covering the periods both before and after that scandal [9–12].

2.2. Voluntary non-remunerated blood donation and beyond

Blood establishments (BEs) and NGOs oversee the collection of whole blood and separated BCs in most countries, while some local institutions such as hospitals may also run collection programs for their internal use. Of the various ways of accessing blood: (i) mandatory donation is exceptional; (ii) paid collections are no longer the most common when it comes to cell donations (unlike plasma); (iii) directed donations for medical reasons are rare; (iv) family/replacement donation is still frequent in low- to mediumincome countries where relatives of patients are invited to donate or recruit donors in order to replenish the BB for BCs issued for their family member (it is made clear that the donated blood is not intended for allocation to this particular person); (v) VNRD is the other common type of donation. Of note, several experts have argued in favour of a donation type that fits certain needs e.g., in Africa, based upon some type of contract of safe behaviour [13,14]; this has been largely opposed as unethical but is mentioned here to suggest that it is possible to explore other creative modalities.

WHO's view has consistently favored 100% VNRD, denying some benefits for replacement donation. In theory, either of the two types should be managed in different settings. However, many countries operate both to meet demand. Exclusive VNRD commonly characterizes systems where national or large organizations are in place, whereas replacement donation is operated by smaller and less well-resourced entities.

VNRD is endorsed by most major European and World organizations. The EU is promoting a revised plan to promote VNRD and to regulate the use of substances of human origin [15]. Though VNRD is the modality that is deemed safest, one may still ask if it is always entirely "voluntary". There are numerous examples of social pressure—albeit well-intended—towards donation in mobile drives especially in small towns, enterprises, and schools and universities where it may be difficult to not be a donor candidate and thus appear to lack solidarity with a good cause. When a BE calls urgently for donation because of acute shortage, and sends repeated telephone calls, e-mails, or texts, may "voluntariness" not be influenced? [16].

In discussing blood donation, the notion of fairness in access to blood donation as a principle of equity between citizens must also be taken into consideration. Equity is barely achievable in transfusion systems where there is no public/national service. Nor is equity achieved when mobile drives do not - or no longer - serve all places in each country, for economic and/or logistical reasons. In some remote territories, blood donation has been never established or was discontinued (because of the once acknowledgedbut never revised-burden of TTIs) even though a fair proportion of the population displays e.g., hemoglobinopathy and requires transfusion programs. These examples illustrate gaps between blood donation and universality, and question "A right to donate" [17]. Most professionals and associations agree that there is no such right, but that blood donation is a privilege of the healthy as opposed to sick persons. A privilege that cannot, however, be exercised universally.

3. The globalization of blood transfusion

3.1. The marketing of blood donation

In most countries, blood donation fails to meet demand without additional advertising. In response, in high-income countries, BEs have set up departments which apply the vocabulary and tools that are employed to sell goods in commercial marketing. Blood, however, is not a good to sell in a VNRD system. This situation generates paradoxical gaps between some professionals and the benevolent donor world, turning into a downward spiral especially when BEs are forced into making urgent calls or frequent expensive advertising to attract donor candidates to collection sites. After nearly two decades of marketing of blood donation, it would be fair on the part of blood services to question their donor recruitment modes [18]. The much-discussed general question of blood's status as a commodity, or a public or social good, should be revisited considering current social concepts of solidarity. An adequate blood supply could be regarded as a "merit good", that is, a commodity which it is judged that an individual or society should have on the basis of some concept of benefit, rather than ability and willingness to pay.

3.2. Merchandizing

A globalized market for plasma derivatives, notably injectable immunoglobulins, emerged some decades ago, growing extremely fast [19]. It has been described as a cannibal market based on commodification of human derived substances [20]. This demonstrates how marketing can operate when blood is no longer donated but sold [21]. Plasma, selling outside the VNRD concept, has become a genuine good and there is no shortage of supply yet. For-profit entities operate within an industrial system that has sought to dampen the risk of supply shortage and to smooth production. This was seen in the opening of new markets in convalescent plasma during the SARS-CoV-2/Covid-19 crisis, when the industry adapted swiftly to the situation and advertised for more donations or paid more for donation [22]. One of the arguments of non-profit organizations opposing this open market in source plasma is that it is at odds with ethical blood donation's inviolable requirement to protect donors' health [23,24]. It can indeed be pointed out that excessive blood collection with no other reason than profitability, or without appropriate donor medical follow-up when donations are very frequent [25], creates the circumstances for non-ethical access to blood. Blood donation modes that do not involve intermediary profit should be discussed, perhaps in line with the incentive scaling proposed by the Nuffield Council on Bioethics [26].

4. Codifying the ethical aspects of transfusion

Laws that define blood and blood components in some countries tend not to say what blood is but what it is not, for example, a commodity. A legal framework setting out responsibilities and liabilities was forced on blood transfusion by the tainted blood scandal of the 80's and 90's. It is indeed a moral duty not to expose a BC recipient to pathogenic infectious agents that can now be prevented by robust quality and safety measures all along the blood supply chain up to the bedside. The legal status of blood as a body part (e.g., the issue of owning one's blood, or its status as a public good) had to be formalized. The "Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms" (1950-1953) was the first instrument to give effect to certain rights stated in the "Universal Declaration of Human Rights" and make them binding. Europe later adopted an extension of this Declaration, the "Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Dignity of the Human Being with regard to the Application of Biology and Medicine: Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine" (the Oviedo Convention), which opened for signature in 1997. This is the only international legally binding instrument on the protection of human rights in the biomedical field. It is a framework convention aiming to protect the dignity and identity of all human beings, and to guarantee everyone, without discrimination, respect for their integrity and other rights and fundamental freedoms regarding the application of biology and medicine. It sets out fundamental principles applicable to daily medical practice and is regarded as the European treaty on patients' rights. Within the EU, blood and labile BCs are regulated by Directive 2002/98/CE (and four more documents providing specifications); blood is confirmed not to be a tradable commodity. In contrast, Directive 2001/83/CE stipulates that source plasma and PDMPs are exchangeable between markets and are tradable [27]. EU countries have passed decrees to transpose the Directives relating to labile BCs and PDMPs. Consequences have been described in the preceding paragraph about merchandizing, with possible attaints to human integrity, and likely attaints to human dignity.

First drafted in 1981, then refined in 2006 and 2017, the ISBT's "Code of Ethics" covers blood donation and blood transfusion [28]. Even though it uses 'should' instead of 'must'—and despite its good intentions—the Code is not consensual; disputes arose about source plasma and the position of for-profit organizations which argue that only a robust industrial model can ensure the uninterrupted production of safe inventories of PDMPs, both in terms of quantity and quality [29–34]. A subsidiary point of contest concerned blood as a public (universal) resource (like water, air, wild-life etc.) [35].

As seen, neither official statements nor ethical codes prevent the commodification of blood when it comes to plasma as a raw material. Unlike blood cells, plasma is not considered a body part, as it can be bought and sold to make profit. In contrast to luxury goods, however, PDMPs are vital to patients in need, and somebody must prepare medicines. It is therefore crucial that states ensure that no shortage of PDMPs, for whatever reason, threatens the survival of thousands of persons who depend on those products [20]. This most likely requires some form of state intervention in favor of VNRD in the context of an industry evolving on a liberal model, or nationalization of the production and supply of PDMPs.

5. Ethical aspects of blood donation and collection: Medicalizing the good intention

Dedicated "Donor healthcare" emerged recently but is now firmly established. It is principally based upon donor hemovigilance. It raises several ethical concerns, dealing with both the pre-donation and post-donation periods [36].

The pre-donation assessment is unique in healthcare, since BE personnel have authority to decide whether the donor candidate is in good or bad health. This is a quite remarkable statement to be made by a nurse or blood technician. It differs radically from a consultation at the doctor's office where an initial tentative evaluation may be checked by thorough physical examination and subsequent laboratory tests. However, the pre-donation interviewer's decree of 'not today', 'not for 4, or 6, or 12 months', or 'never again' is absolute. No appeal is allowed, which makes the situation even tougher in theory than a court of law's imposition of a penalty. Furthermore, acceptance versus deferral of blood donor candidates may correspond to 'normality' or 'abnormality' of the person in the eyes of the community; this is a danger in small donor communities [37].

The shift from a "recipient first" to a "donor first" safety policy is in line with most deontological practices and the code of ethics. Blood transfusion stakeholders, and legislators, have robustly pursued the prevention of TTIs [38]. Recently, most countries have revised the policy of banning male donors who have had sex with other men. Many countries are considering abandoning the ban of plasma collected in countries that faced cases of vCJD. However, problems remain as, for example, when inventory is dramatically low, as it may compromise the donor's autonomy to decide in full knowledge of the risks e.g., of becoming iron deficient. Of note, it is commonly accepted that derogations can be made for directed donations and rare blood groups.

Two main risks in donating blood are clearly identified: one is imbalance in the cardiocirculatory flow and the risk of allowing the decompensation of preexisting cardiocirculatory disease, and the other is exposure to iron deficiency and anemia. Pre-donation testing of hemoglobin disqualifies a significant number of blood donor candidates. The hemoglobin threshold adequate for safe donation has long been in dispute regarding donor candidates of African ancestry who present lower physiological hemoglobin levels than Caucasian-type donors. The post-donation risk of donor iron deficiency raises the question of prevention, an area which would trespass on family medicine practice, or non-prevention which incurs a risk of leaving iron-deficient persons untreated [39].

A further ethical concern in blood donation is the appropriate information to provide to donors who present with serious conditions such as HIV, HCV, and HBV infections. Certain infectious diseases must be notified to national registers and either referral or counseling must be provided, to protect that person as well as sexual partners or persons living in the same household; information is provided in accordance with deontological codes and good medical practice. The acceptance of candidate blood donors with a theoretical risk of carrying infections despite thorough testing is unresolved on ethical grounds; the return to blood donation of males who have had sex with other men represents the first breach of the zero-risk "rule" even at the expense of the precautionary principle [40]. A truly zero-risk policy is however unachievable and actual nosocomial risks are far greater than those theoretically induced by transfusion. This theoretical risk could be balanced against that of blood shortage.

Genetic traits such as minor hemoglobinopathy present an ethically interesting case, as there should be a balance between: (i) the necessity of collecting blood from populations closest to those in need, with matched blood group genotypes and phenotypes; (ii) the good manufacturing requirement to leukofilter blood within a fixed time frame (not possible in the case of hemoglobinopathy leading to slow filtration); (iii) the imperative to protect donors from iron depletion, to which the donor candidate with minor hemoglobinopathy is already exposed [41].

The medicalization of blood cell donation has paralleled donor hemovigilance [42]. It is not fulfilled regarding plasma collection within the for-profit sector, pointing to potential donor risks. The case of plasma protein exhaustion in occasional malnourished frequent donors in plasma centers theoretically leads to a lower yield of proteins of interest, imposing further collections to meet the requirement, once again leading to a downward spiral. This issue is disputed by plasma collectors; scientific data is awaited from a dedicated trial [43].

6. Are there ethical concerns relating to blood components?

Ethical concerns are rarely addressed when it comes to the processing/manufacturing of BCs to ensure an inventory that meets all needs, avoiding the imposition of restrictions that might increase the risk of shortage. Unquestionably a responsibility falls on BEs and, above them, the medical authorities overseeing public services to allocate the necessary resources to optimize platforms, computing, surveillance, controls, and vigilance. It also falls within the authority's responsibility to ensure that BCs are qualitatively safe, meaning that procedures for quality control of BCs must be defined and supervised or controlled, and that the most relevant TTI pathogens are tested for or inactivated [44].

The issue of the quality of BCs acquires renewed interest at a time when options may come into conflict. While fresher BCs generally lead to a more favorable recipient outcome, older BCs are not discarded before outdating, because blood is too scarce. However, freshness is not clearly defined, and clinical trials do not address clearcut questions to solve this qualitative issue [45]. The implementation of pathogen reduction technologies for platelet components and therapeutic plasma proved extreme efficacy on the initial target of TTI prevention. It may however induce some alteration of the BC and involve additional costs [46]. What is, thus, best for the patient [47]?

Authorities redistribute public money, obtained from taxes on citizens, enterprises, and industries, according to politics; in democracies, citizens influence politics and, hence, public health priorities. Governments must uphold or correct previous decisions and decide whether to give transfusion high priority, considering that transfusion cannot be for free. There are the direct costs of each step of the process from donor to bedside, and indirect costs that include follow-up (epidemiological surveillance and hemovigilance) and compensation for accidents (e.g., to victims of the tainted blood scandal). Transfusion costs have further to be weighed against alternatives to transfusion, the establishment of measures to prevent diseases that will require transfusions as they progress, and the education of patients and professionals to achieve this goal.

The quality of blood also covers immunologic compatibility, which authorities regulate directly or indirectly by allocating sufficient resources for optimal typing and screening of blood from both donors and recipients, possibly using genetic markers, and by targeting alternate populations of donors from more genetically diversified populations.

Of particular concern is the possibility that sensitive information can be accessed from a donor database (sex, medications, hygiene, supplementary diets, alcohol, tobacco, recreational substances, stimulants, etc.) [48]. This underlines the need for consolidated processing and securing of donor personal data, and discussion with representatives of donor populations who fear that sensitive information is accessible in cloud storage, thus vulnerable to malice and fraud [49]. In this context, a new set of ethical questions arises concerning the genotyping of donors and metabolomic studies on components and storage by-products, to address the issue of blood elements that may be undesirable in the final component.

7. Ethical aspects of blood transfusion at the bedside

7.1. Infor***med consent

The cornerstone of transfusion is informed consent, given by donors who must receive state-of-the art. honest information regarding the risks of donating, and by recipients who must be presented with balanced benefits and complications of a single episode or repeated episodes of transfusion [50]. The informed consent principle derives from legislation regarding patients' rights, adopted in most countries nearly two decades ago. Although this principle goes without saying in Anglo-Saxon and Nordic countries, its recognition was much less straightforward in Latin countries. Strict application of this seminal concept is however subject to limitations, as with underage, comatose or unconscious, demented, illiterate, and severely deaf and blind patients. Informed consent is intended to be provided orally to make sure that it is heard and understood and that questions can be asked without fear or hesitation and answered fairly. Some limitations remain shadowy regarding the object of the consent: e.g., do patients have to consent to nosocomial risks caused by blood [51]? BCs receive meticulous attention during the processing and testing phases but, alongside the desired therapeutic compounds, still contain remnants of cellular and soluble by-products (and untestable infectious agents) [52]. Authorized BCs meet criteria based upon clinical trials that were designed to evaluate the desired components, irrespective of the occasional complications that may arise from the interaction of component and patient. Red blood cell (RBC) components are good for issue up to 42 days (at present, in most blood services, though extension to 56 days is underway using novel storage solutions) but blood older than 15-21 days may not suit extravascular circulation, nor RBC exchange in hemoglobinopathy, etc. [53], though progress is being made [54]. Who would agree to receive transfusion if presented with all the complications possibly due to transfusion considering the unknowns of their genetics?

7.2. Ethical and legal aspects at the bedside

Legal aspects of blood and blood transfusion have been analyzed exhaustively since the tainted blood scandals [55]. Transfusion is perhaps the medical domain where most situations have been anticipated and regulated, leading to the early construction of quality systems. Quality systems inevitably equate to safety issues, allowing the emergence of normativity, liability and – as has been seen after the tainted blood scandal – the pursuit of legal responsibility or blame. It has been made clear that liability falls on the BE and under no circumstances on the blood donor. That, however, questions the issue of donors' autonomy and moral if not legal responsibility.

7.3. The refusal of blood transfusion

To refuse blood transfusion is a patient's fundamental right. Much has been written on this specific question, with a focus on the refusal of Jehovah's Witnesses to countenance transfusion on religious grounds [56,57]. The issue becomes critical when parents oppose transfusion for their sick child for religious reasons or oppose transfusion for a sick aged parent no longer capable of expressing their consent to that treatment option.

This ethical question also arises from the opposing views of healthcare providers trying to convince anemic patients to receive transfusion, and recipients who are tired of suffering from transfusion discomfort with little if any improvement in their condition, as seen in myelodysplastic syndromes of long duration [58]. Conflict may also arise since transfusion may be denied to persons of great age or in palliative care on the grounds that the risk-benefit balance is unfavorable, and that blood is a rare resource. Is it the role of physicians to decide who will and will not benefit from transfusion in case of supply shortage [59], or to operate triage [60]? Is it not authorities' role to anticipate the possibility of unexpected major demands on the blood supply?

Internationally active specialists often observe the heartbreaking discrepancy between high-income countries where transfusion can be refused [61], and low-income countries where only the most urgent transfusion can be given because of the almost permanent shortage of BC while many anemic patients die without transfusion resources [62].

7.4. What has "Patient Blood Management" changed in the field of blood transfusion ethics?

From its initial three pillars [63], Patient Blood Management (PBM) has extended to minimizing the need for blood transfusion—particularly of RBCs—in non-surgical situations such as the treatment of hemoglobinopathy. In focusing on the patient, PBM is profoundly ethical in its aim to optimize the patient's condition while minimizing transfusion-induced complications. However, concerns have arisen over the risk of under-transfusion, and possible complications of non-transfusion or alternatives to transfusion such as injectable iron, growth factors, etc. [64]. Concerns also arose over intense lobbying in favor of PBM and zero-transfusion programs, sustained by drug manufacturers and Jehovah's Witnesses. Lobbying does not necessarily conflict with good intent; however, it demands caution and responsibility.

7.5. Rare blood allocation

Rare blood allocation refers to two different situations: when a rare blood group blood is needed and when blood is a scarce resource. It concerns not only rare RBC groups but also platelets, in the situation where donors with specific HLA or HPA antigens are urged to donate for a patient presenting with multiple antibodies.

Increased frequency of rare RBC blood group recipients in a healthcare system is a consequence of population migration. Some phenotypes once considered rare in Europe are in fact frequent elsewhere; increasing numbers of recipients of African ancestry are now receiving care for conditions such as Sickle Cell Disease (SCD) in Europe and North America. But as most blood donors in Europe are of European ancestry, there is often a gap between the resource and the need to avoid creating immunizing situations that may be severe in SCD patients. To circumvent this, specific campaigns are addressed to target populations that share what has been improperly termed "phenotypes of interest". While such campaigns are necessary and acknowledged as such by representatives of the relevant communities, they may conflict with the universality principle of blood donation, despite being designed with the best intentions [65]. Rarer blood groups are consequences of mutations found in small groups or families (either by the emergence of private antigens or a lack of public antigens): special rare blood group programs have been set up by a small number of banks, that sometimes operate internationally. Donations are begged from healthy carriers of such groups — violating the principle of voluntariness — either to stock the rare blood bank for anonymous recipients or for autologous use in case of necessity.

Another situation, still under vigorous debate, is the transfusion of granulocytes, although this is rarely needed and has even been discontinued in certain countries [66,67]. Collection of granulocytes by apheresis may expose donors to complications because of the injection of corticosteroids and growth and stimulating factors, which clearly opposes the "first do no harm" principle.

7.6. Distributive justice and allocation of blood in remote settings

Within the same country, BCs may be available in general but scarce in specific settings. In non-centralized systems, a hospital BB may run short of blood after issuing large amounts for one patient. In such countries, each hospital's BB is responsible for its inventory and must negotiate BC transfer from partner hospital BBs, if any. In countries with a centralized healthcare system, there may be a complex network of hospitals providing emergency rooms, operating theatres, delivery facilities, etc. The BB may be restricted to an emergency inventory, and the hospital is vulnerable to running short quickly. Furthermore, these emergency banks rarely maintain platelet component inventory because of the very short period of outdating and for reasons of logistics and economy. This clearly opposes the principle of justice when equal chances of being transfused according to state-of-art recommendations may be denied. Shipping ad hoc BCs from larger facilities may take time, often imposing the transfer of the patient to a larger referral hospital, which represents a burden on the family and society [68].

8. Transfusion in resource-scarce countries and concluding remarks

Running a blood service in a resource-scarce country encounters all the ethical concerns that have been discussed herein. Building an inventory that can serve emergency situations may require recruitment of donors who may not be voluntary and face risks in donating, and possibly expose recipients to infectious pathogens [69]. Areas where hemoglobinopathy is common need BCs in large amounts to treat patients and require blood donors free of the genetic deficiency trait. Imported blood exposes recipients to immunological complications as populations are group mismatched, favoring alloimmunization [42]. To a greater degree than in countries with sustainable blood services, it is necessary to prioritize. The risks and benefit of not being transfused must be evaluated much more frequently than those of being transfused. Furthermore, besides being responsible for building a safe and qualitative BC inventory, blood services must oversee processes that are not under their responsibility, such as the ad hoc provision of transfusion devices bought in local pharmacies. A recent report from India drew attention to the fact that not all such devices meet safety standards [70]. International assistance regarding transfusion services is limited despite sustained efforts from some wealthier countries in Europe and the Americas, principally because blood must be collected at close hand, within the local populations, and because recipients' needs differ from the needs in countries in

which most international experts were raised and educated, not to mention differing attitudes towards blood.

Transfusion of donated blood is sometimes the only way to survive a serious condition. Individuals, organizations, associations, and academics should collectively take on responsibility, the latter through the development of reflection in human sciences and ethics. Special attention should be given to international collaboration as the gap between blood services in high- and low-income countries is in fact increasing. Although there have been substantial achievements regarding ethical concerns in the domain of transfusion, there are still obstacles ahead which must be overcome, not least the move towards a consensus on VNRD.

Disclosures

OG is a member of the Scientific Advisory Board of Macopharma, Mouveaux, France. None of the coauthors disclose conflicts of interest.

References

- Raykar NP, Makin J, Khajanchi M, Olayo B, Munoz Valencia A, Roy N, et al. Assessing the global burden of hemorrhage: The global blood supply, deficits, and potential solutions. SAGE Open Med. 2021 Nov 10;9:20503121211054995. doi: 10.1177/20503121211054995. PMID: 34790356; PMCID: PMC8591638.
- WHO. WHO model list of essential medicines. 2013; https://apps.who.int/iris/ bitstream/handle/10665/93142/EML_18_eng.pdf;jsessionid= 4FA840AE480BFDBC9B193BED35F325F7?sequence=1.
- [3] Garraud O, Tissot JD. Blood and Blood Components: From Similarities to Differences. Front Med (Lausanne) 2018 Apr;9:84. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/ fmed.2018.00084. PMID: 29686986; PMCID: PMC5900421.</u>
- [4] Shivaram CBlood banker's ethical dilemma: To assure quality or contain costs. Global Journal of Transfusion Medicine. 2017; 2. 1. 10.4103/GJTM. GJTM_13_17.
- [5] Durand-Zaleski I. Conséquences de la pression économique sur les pratiques médicales en transfusion sanguine [Economic environment and blood transfusion]. Transfus Clin Biol. 2015 Aug;22(3):97-100. French. doi: 10.1016/j.tracli.2015.05.006. Epub 2015 Jun 19. PMID: 26096190.
- [6] Garraud O, Charlier P, Tissot JD. Blood, perceptions, resource and ownership: When transfusion illustrates the complexity. Transfus Clin Biol 2020 Apr;27:91–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tracli.2020.01.001</u>, Epub 2020 Jan 9 PMID: 31982310.
- [7] WHO Expert Group. Expert Consensus Statement on achieving self-sufficiency in safe blood and blood products, based on voluntary non-remunerated blood donation (VNRBD). Vox Sang. 2012 Nov;103(4):337-42. doi: 10.1111/j.1423-0410.2012.01630.x.
- [8] European Parliament, Council of the European Union. Directive 2002/98/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 January 2003 setting standards of quality and safety for the collection, testing, processing, storage and distribution of human blood and blood components and amending Directive 2001/83/EC, 2003. Available online: http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/ 2002/98/o.
- [9] Giangrande PL. The history of blood transfusion. Br J Haematol 2000 Sep;110:758–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2141.2000.02139.x</u>. PMID: 11054057.
- [10] Abbasciano RG, Yusuff H, Vlaar APJ, Lai F, Murphy GJ. Blood Transfusion Threshold in Patients Receiving Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation Support for Cardiac and Respiratory Failure-A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2021 Apr;35:1192–202. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1053/j.jvca.2020.08.068</u>. Epub 2020 Sep 10 PMID: 33046363.
- [11] Garraud O, Tissot JD. Transfusion, history and ethics: Hundred years after WWI battlefield Garraud O, Tissot JD. Transfusion, history and ethics: Hundred years after WWI battlefield operations. Transfus Clin Biol 2019 Feb;26:1–2. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.tracli.2019.01.001</u>. PMID: 30683174.
- [12] Garraud O, Vuk T, Lozano M, Tissot JD. Transfusion medicine: Overtime paradigm changes and emerging paradoxes. Transfus Clin Biol. 2020 Nov;27:262-267. doi: 10.1016/j.tracli.2020.10.001. Epub 2020 Oct 6. PMID: 33035654; PMCID: PMC7537623.
- [13] Haddad A, Bou Assi T, Baz E, Samaha H, Hachem B, Feghali R, et al. Blood donations mode: Assessment of the Lebanese model. Transfus Clin Biol 2019 Nov;26:341–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tracli.2019.02.009</u>. Epub 2019 Mar 5 PMID: 30905678.
- [14] Ala F, Allain JP, Bates I, Boukef K, Boulton F, Brandful J, et al. External financial aid to blood transfusion services in sub-Saharan Africa: a need for reflection. PLoS Med 2012;9:e1001309.
- [15] The European Commission. Proposal for a Regulation on substances of human origin (2022). https://health.ec.europa.eu/blood-tissues-cells-and-organs/ overview/proposal-regulation-substances-human-origin_en.

O. Garraud, C. Politis, R. Henschler et al.

- [16] Garraud O, Danic B, Cartron JP, Chiaroni J, Clavier B, Cuneo B, et al. Volontariat et don de sang : compte rendu d'un séminaire de l'Institut national de transfusion sanguine [Voluntariness and blood donation: Proceedings of an ethics seminar held at the National Institute for Blood Transfusion]. Transfus Clin Biol. 2016 Sep;23:168-74. French. doi: 10.1016/j.tracli.2016.06.009. Epub 2016 Aug 8. PMID: 27424281.
- [17] Franklin IM. Is there a right to donate blood? Patient rights; donor responsibilities. Transfus Med 2007 Jun;17:161–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ i1365-3148.2007.00754.x</u>. PMID: 17561856.
- [18] Ferguson E. Mechanism of altruism approach to blood donor recruitment and retention: a review and future directions. Transfus Med 2015 Aug;25:211–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/tme.12233</u>. Epub 2015 Aug 27 PMID: 26311129.
- [19] Mercier Ythier J. The contested market of plasma. Transfus Clin Biol. 2020 Feb;27:52-57. French. doi: 10.1016/j.tracli.2019.10.003. Epub 2019 Oct 31. PMID: 31735607.
- [20] Tissot JD, Garraud O, Lefrère JJ, Osselaer JC. Selling donations: ethics and Transfusion Medicine. In: New Cannibal Markets: Globalization and Commodification of the human body. Reinhorn JD and El Boudamoussi S, Eds. Editions de la Maison des Sciences de l'homme, 2015.
- [21] Brand A, De Angelis V, Vuk T, Garraud O, Lozano M, Politis D. European Mediterranean Initiative for Transfusion Medicine. Review of indications for immunoglobulin (IG) use: Narrowing the gap between supply and demand. Transfus Clin Biol 2021 Feb;28:96–122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.tracli.2020.12.005</u>. Epub 2020 Dec 13. PMID: 33321210.
- [22] Garraud O, Farrugia A, Tissot JD. Is plasma donation ethics abused? Transfus Clin Biol 2021 Feb;28:1–2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tracli.2020.12.006</u>. Epub 2021 Jan 2 PMID: 33402274.
- [23] Vuk T, Garraud O, Politis C. Post-donation information management. Transfus Clin Biol 2021 Nov;28:407–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tracli.2021.08.006</u>. Epub 2021 Aug 17 PMID: 34416375.
- [24] Ochoa I, Shaefer HL, Grogan-Kaylor A. The linkage between plasma donation and poverty in the United States. J Sociology and Social Welfare 2021;48:56–72.
- [25] Shafi S. The dangers of the blood plasma industry's over-reliance on paid for "donations". BMJ 2023 Feb;6:199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.p199</u>. PMID: 36746492.
- [26] Nuffield Council on Bioethics. Human bodies: Donation for medicine and bodies. Chapter 6: Actions affecting individuals. 2012. https://www. nuffieldbioethics.org/wp-content/uploads/Donation_Chapter6_ Recommendations_affecting_individuals1.pdf.
- [27] European Parliament, Council of the European Union. Directive 2001/83/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 November 2001 on the Community code relating to medicinal products for human use. 2001. Available online: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri= CELEX:32001L0083&from=en.
- [28] International Society of Blood Transfusion. Code of ethics relating to transfusion medicine. ISBT 2017. Available online: https://www.isbtweb.org/ resource/english.html.
- [29] Petrini C. Production of plasma-derived medicinal products: ethical implications for blood donation and donors. Blood Transfus 2014 Jan;12 Suppl 1:s389–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.2450/2013.0167-12</u>. Epub 2013 Feb 21. PMID: 23522886; PMCID: PMC3934296.
- [30] Petrini C. Between altruism and commercialisation: some ethical aspects of blood donation. Ann Ist Super Sanita 2013;49:412–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.4415/</u> <u>ANN 13 04 16</u>. PMID: 24334789.
- [31] Farrugia A, Penrod J, Bult JM. Payment, compensation and replacement-the ethics and motivation of blood and plasma donation. Vox Sang 2010 Oct;99:202-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1423-0410.2010.01360.x</u>. PMID: 20576023.
- [32] Farrugia A, Del Bò C. Some reflections on the Code of Ethics of the International Society of Blood Transfusion. Blood Transfus. 2015 Oct;13:551-8. doi: 10.2450/ 2015.0266-14. Epub 2015 Mar 30. PMID: 26057482; PMCID: PMC4624529.
- [33] Flanagan P. The Code of Ethics of the International Society of Blood Transfusion. Blood Transfus. 2015 Oct;13:537-8. doi: 10.2450/2015.0061-15. Epub 2015 Mar 30. PMID: 26057483; PMCID: PMC4624526.
- [34] Farrugia A, Del Bò C. Reply to Flanagan "The Code of Ethics of the International Society of Blood Transfusion" [Blood Transfus 2015; 13: 537-8]. Blood Transfus. 2017 May;15:286-288. doi: 10.2450/2016.0013-16. Epub 2016 May 5. PMID: 27177415; PMCID: PMC5448843.
- [35] Petrini C. Is my blood mine? Some comments on the Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine. Blood Transfus. 2013 Jul;11:321-3. doi: 10.2450/ 2012.0103-12. Epub 2012 Sep 12. PMID: 23058862; PMCID: PMC3729117.
- [36] van den Burg PJ, Magnussen K. Ethical aspects of blood donors and the recipients of their blood. J Blood Transfus. 2012;2012:606753. doi: 10.1155/ 2012/606753. Epub 2011 Dec 29. PMID: 24089650; PMCID: PMC3777254.
- [37] Fox D. The expressive dimension of donor deferral. Am J Bioeth 2010 Feb;10:42–3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15265160903506350</u>. PMID: 20131172.
- [38] Stramer SL, Dodd RY; AABB Transfusion-Transmitted Diseases Emerging Infectious Diseases Subgroup. Transfusion-transmitted emerging infectious diseases: 30 years of challenges and progress. Transfusion. 2013 Oct;53:2375-83. doi: 10.1111/trf.12371. Epub 2013 Aug 9. PMID: 23926897; PMCID: PMC7169683.
- [39] Garraud O, Politis C, Vuk T. European and Mediterranean Initiative in Transfusion Medicine (EMITm) group. Blood donors, iron deficiency and supplementation options - Will clinical trials help moving forward? Transfus

Apher Sci. 2022 Oct;61:103530. doi: 10.1016/j.transci.2022.103530. Epub 2022 Aug 29. PMID: 36068157.

- [40] Bloch EM. Deferral of men who have sex with men from blood donation: Policy and change. Transfus Clin Biol 2022 Aug;29:195–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.tracli.2022.07.001</u>. PMID: 35987530.
- [41] Politis C, Hassapopoulou E, Halkia P, Kourakli A, Mougiou A, Zervou E, et al. Managing the patient with haemoglobinopathy and multiple red cell antibodies. ISBT Sci Ser 2016;11:54–61.
- [42] Vuk T, Politis C, Laspina S, Lozano M, Haddad A, de Angelis V et al. European and Mediterranean Initiative in Transfusion medicine (EMITm) group. Thirty years of hemovigilance - Achievements and future perspectives. Transfus Clin Biol. 2023 Feb;30(1):166-172. doi: 10.1016/j.tracli.2022.09.070. Epub 2022 Oct 8. PMID: 36216308.
- [43] ClinicalTrials.gov: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT05179200, 2022.
- [44] WHO. Strategic framework for blood safety and availability: 2016-2025. 2017; https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/blood-transfusion-safety/emropub-2017-en-19608.pdf?sfvrsn=3a119965_2.
- [45] Garraud O. Effect of "old" versus "fresh" transfused red blood cells on patients' outcome: probably more complex than appears. J Thorac Dis 2017 Feb;9: E146-8. https://doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.02.03. PMID: 28275500; PMCID: PMC5334080.
- [46] Blajchman MA, Glynn SA, Josephson CD, Kleinman SH. State-of-the Science Symposium Transfusion Medicine Committee. Clinical trial opportunities in Transfusion Medicine: proceedings of a National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute State-of-the-Science Symposium. Transfus Med Rev. 2010 Oct;24 (4):259-85. doi: 10.1016/j.tmrv.2010.05.002. Erratum in: Transfus Med Rev. 2011 Apr;25(2):175-6. multiple investigator names corrected. Erratum in: Transfus Med Rev. 2012 Jan;26(1):102. Bennett-Gurrero, Elliott [corrected to Bennett-Guerrero, Elliott]. PMID: 20851330.
- [47] Tiberghien P. The best blood product and its best use for each patient: An evolving role for hemovigilance? Transfus Clin Biol 2019 Sep;26:188–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tracli.2019.04.001</u>. Epub 2019 May 15 PMID: 31178340.
- [48] Nemkov T, Stefanoni D, Bordbar A, Issaian A, Palsson BO, Dumont LJ, et al., D'Alessandro A; Recipient Epidemiology and Donor Evaluation Study III Red Blood Cell-Omics (REDS-III RBC-Omics) Study. Blood donor exposome and impact of common drugs on red blood cell metabolism. JCI Insight. 2021 Feb 8;6(3):e146175. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.146175. PMID: 33351786; PMCID: PMC7934844.
- [49] WHO. A practical guide to the implementation of a computerized information management systems for blood transfusion services. 2019; https://apps.who. int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/330822/9789241512640-eng.pdf.
- [50] Murphy MF, Harris A, Neuberger J. SaBTO Consent for Transfusion Working Group. Consent for blood transfusion: summary of recommendations from the Advisory Committee for the Safety of Blood, Tissues and Organs (SaBTO). Clin Med (Lond). 2021 May;21(3):201-203. doi: 10.7861/clinmed.2020-1035. PMID: 34001570; PMCID: PMC8140698.
- [51] Garraud O, Tissot JD. Theoretical and experimental ethics: advocacy for blood donors and beneficiaries of blood transfusions. Transfus Med 2018 Jun;28:261–2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/tme.12457</u>. Epub 2017 Sep 5 PMID: 28875563.
- [52] Garraud O, Cognasse F, Laradi S, Hamzeh-Cognasse H, Peyrard T, Tissot JD, et al. How to mitigate the risk of inducing transfusion-associated adverse reactions. Transfus Clin Biol 2018 Nov;25:262–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/ i.tracli.2018.07.006</u>. Epub 2018 Jul 27 PMID: 30139570.
- [53] Anastasiadi AT, Tzounakas VL, Dzieciatkowska M, Arvaniti VZ, Papageorgiou EG, Papassideri IS, et al. Innate Variability in Physiological and Omics Aspects of the Beta Thalassemia Trait-Specific Donor Variation Effects. Front Physiol 2022 Jun;8: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2022.907444. PMID: 35755442:</u> PMCID: PMC9214579907444.
- [54] Rabcuka J, Blonski S, Meli A, Sowemimo-Coker S, Zaremba D, Stephenson D, et al. Metabolic reprogramming under hypoxic storage preserves faster oxygen unloading from stored red blood cells. Blood Adv 2022 Sep 27;6:5415–28. https://doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2022007774. PMID: 35736672: PMCID: PMC9631703.
- [55] Desborough MJ, Murphy MF. Legal and ethical issues in blood transfusion. Br J Hosp Med (Lond) 2013 Jan;74:C2-4. <u>https://doi.org/10.12968/ hmed.2013.74.sup1.c2</u>. PMID: 23593671.
- [56] Garraud O, Tissot JD. Transfusion and refusal: trials and tribulations. International Journal of Clinical Transfusion Medicine 2018;6:15–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/IJCTM.S150554</u>.
- [57] Gutierrez-Vega R, Gallegos-Garza AC, Fajardo-Dolci G. Blood transfusion in Jehovah's Witnesses, a dilemma in medicine? Rev Med Hosp Gen Mex 2014;77:195-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hgmx.2014.10.001Rafael Gutierrez-Vega</u>. Adriana Cecilia.
- [58] Garraud O. The complexity of setting up clinical trials for the transfusion support of myelodysplastic syndromes: How to best serve the patients' interests? Transfus Apher Sci 2020 Apr;59:. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/ i.transci.2020.102750</u>. Epub 2020 Feb 28. PMID: 32144031102750.
- [59] Garraud O. Transfusion at the border of the "intention-to-treat", in the very aged person and in palliative care: A debate. Transfus Clin Biol 2021 Nov;28:367–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tracli.2021.08.350</u>. Epub 2021 Aug 28 PMID: 34464710.
- [60] Iijima Y. The ethics of blood transfusion refusal in clinical practice among legal and medical professions in Japan. Nagoya J Med Sci 2020 May;82:193–204.

https://doi.org/10.18999/nagims.82.2.193. PMID: 32581400: PMCID: PMC7276408.

- [61] Strengers P, O'Brien SF, Politis C, Mayr W, Seifried E, Spencer BR. White paper on pandemic preparedness in the blood supply. Vox Sang 2023 Jan;118:8–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/vox.13378</u>. Epub 2022 Nov 25 PMID: 36427057.
- [62] Bansal N, Raturi M, Dhiman Y, Adhikari B, Thakur K. The Indian "blood storage centre" model for the provision of safe blood towards obstetric care in the remote regions of Uttarakhand. Transfus Clin Biol. 2022 Oct 20:S1246-7820 (22)00334-2. doi: 10.1016/j.tracli.2022.10.005. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 36273774.
- [63] Franchini M, Marano G, Veropalumbo E, Masiello F, Pati I, Candura F, et al. Patient Blood Management: a revolutionary approach to transfusion medicine. Blood Transfus 2019 May;17:191–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.2450/2019.0109-19.</u> PMID: 31246561; PMCID: PMC6596379.
- [64] Sazama K. The ethics of blood management. Vox Sang 2007 Feb;92:95–102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/i.1423-0410.2006.00867.x</u>. PMID: 17298570.
- [65] Grassineau D, Papa K, Ducourneau A, Duboz P, Boëtsch G, Chiaroni J. Improving minority blood donation: anthropologic approach in a migrant community. Transfusion 2007 Mar;47:402–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1537-2995.2007.01130.x</u>. PMID: 17319819.

- [66] Sjödahl R, Davidson T, Aldman Å, Lennmarken C, Kammerlind AS, Gustavsson E, et al. Robotassisterad bäcken- och njurkirurgi en utvärdering [Robotic-assisted pelvic and renal surgery an overview]. Lakartidningen. 2022 Apr 25;119:21172. Swedish. PMID: 35471726.
- [67] Estcourt LJ, Stanworth SJ, Hopewell S, Doree C, Trivella M, Massey E. Granulocyte transfusions for treating infections in people with neutropenia or neutrophil dysfunction. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016 Apr 29;4: CD005339. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD005339.pub2. PMID: 27128488; PMCID: PMC4930145.
- [68] Bou Assi T, Haddad A, Haddad L, Garraud O. Can a decentralized blood supply system reach 100% voluntary nonremunerated donation? Int J Health Plann Manage 2018 Oct;33:e883–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hpm.2576</u>. Epub 2018 Jul 27 PMID: 30052280.
- [69] Ansah JK, Kafere C, Loua A, Nkansah E, Acquah ME, Mudyiwenyama L. Regulation of blood services in Africa. Transfus Clin Biol 2021 May;28:148–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tracli.2021.01.011</u>. Epub 2021 Jan 28 PMID: 33516886.
- [70] Raturi M, Raj A, Dhiman Y, Sahrawat A. Averting transfusion related catastrophe during blood administration: Backing transfusion bioethics. Transfus Clin Biol 2023 Feb;30:20–1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/ i.tracli.2022.09.004</u>. Epub 2022 Sep 9 PMID: 36089178.